MINUTES OF THE MARTIN BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN SEPTEMBER 08, 2008 5:15 PM CITY HALL CHAMBERS

BE IT REMEMBERED the Regular Meeting of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen for the City of Martin, Tennessee, was held Monday, September 08, 2008, at 5:15 pm in the City Hall Chambers, when the following was held to wit:

MEMBERS PRESENT: HONORABLE RANDY BRUNDIGE, MAYOR HONORABLE DANNY NANNEY, ALDERMAN WARD I HONORABLE BILL HARRISON, ALDERMAN WARD I HONORABLE DAVID BELOTE, ALDERMAN WARD II HONORABLE JOHNNY TUCK, ALDERMAN WARD II HONORABLE TERRY HANKINS, ALDERMAN WARD III HONORABLE RANDY EDWARDS, ALDERMAN WARD III NONE

Also present: City Recorder Chris Mathis, Police Chief David Moore, Fire Chief Russell Schwahn, Weldon Public Library Director Roberta Peacock, Public Works Director Billy Wagster, Human Resources Officer Celeste Taylor, Community Development Director Kimberly Craddock, Building Inspector Billy Stout, Parks and Recreations Directors Kim Kirby & Brian Moore, Captain Randal Walker, Ms. Linda Sadler, Captain Sammy Liles, Mr. Ricky Edwards, Mr. Russell Edwards, Mr. Ray Stevenson, Ms. Angie Rushing and her Westview High School Adult Living Class, other citizens, and members of the Press.

CALL TO ORDER AND INVOCATION

Mayor Brundige called the September 8th Regular Meeting of the City of Martin Board of Mayor and Aldermen to order. Alderman Hankins gave the invocation.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor Brundige led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance to our flag.

APPROVAL OF MINUTESAUGUST 11, 2008

Mayor Brundige introduced and presented for consideration the August 11, 2008 regular meeting minutes for approval as written.

Alderman Hankins made the motion to approve the August 11, 2008 regular meeting minutes as written, seconded by Alderman Harrison.

VOTE: UNANIMOUS VOICE VOTE OF APPROVAL

INTRODUCTION AND RECOGNITION

Mayor Brundige introduced and recognized Ms. Angie Rushing and her Adult Living Class from Westview High School. This group of young people will observe the meeting.

THANKS FOR A SUCCESSFUL SOYBEAN FESTIVAL

Mayor Brundige announced the 2008 Tennessee Soybean Festival was a great success. I would like to thank each department for their hard work. This was the largest crowd that we have had. I would estimate there were over ten thousand people downtown Saturday night.

Alderman Belote, Chairman of the Soybean Festival Committee, expressed his appreciation to each city department for all the effort put forth to make the Festival a great success. It takes a lot to make the festival happen and lots of the folks that make that happen are here tonight. These folks are the ones that take care of the little things that lead to big things and make it run smoothly. We have done a good job the last three years addressing the little things that make this festival what it is. As I was coming in today I was stopped out front with a comment on what a wonderful festival it was and people were amazed at how clean it was each day, it was like it was brand new each day. This is just one of the little things that make a good festival. Everybody pitched in and made it happen. Thank you again for a job well done.

DEPARTMENT HEAD REPORTS

PUBLIC WORKSDIRECTOR BILLY WAGSTER

Director Wagster asked if anyone had any questions concerning the Public Works' monthly report. No questions were asked. Copies are attached to the minutes.

Director Wagster explained I have contacted Randy McKinnon concerning the milling and blacktopping of the downtown section of S. Lindell Street. This should happen in the next couple of weeks.

POLICE DEPARTMENT CHIEF DAVID MOORE

Chief Moore asked if anyone had any questions concerning the police department's monthly reports. No questions were asked. Copies are attached to the minutes.

Director Moore explained I am very proud of my officers. They received an award from the Tennessee Governor's Highway Safety Program for Under Age Alcoholic Prevention and I was told we were a National finalist and came very close to winning a national award through the IACP. Our officers work very hard and our low numbers in alcoholic related crashes and fatalities are directly related to the work they do on stemming it at the roots.

I would like to thank each officer and member of the Citizens Police Academy Alumni for the work they did during the Soybean Festival.

PARKS AND RECREATION DIRECTORS KIM KIRBY & BRIAN MOORE

Directors Kirby and Moore asked if anyone had any questions concerning their monthly report. Copies are attached to minutes. There were no questions.

Director Moore explained construction of the Salute to America Plaza is underway. They started Friday, worked Saturday, and will continue until the project is completed.

MARTIN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT KIMBERLY CRADDOCK

Director Craddock announced the Martin Business Association will meet at 7:30 am tomorrow (September 9th) in the city hall courtroom. Everyone is invited.

HUMAN RESOURCES

MS. CELESTE TAYLOR

Ms. Taylor was present. No report is given.

FIRE DEPARTMENT CHIEF RUSSELL SCHWAHN

Chief Schwahn asked if anyone had any questions concerning his monthly reports. Copies are attached to the minutes. No questions were asked.

C. E. WELDON PUBLIC LIBRARY DIRECTOR ROBERTA PEACOCK

Director Peacock asked if anyone had any questions concerning the Library's monthly reports. No questions were asked. A copy of the report is attached to the minutes.

OLD BUSINESS

There was no old business.

NEW BUSINESS:

A REQUEST FROM MR. E. J. EATON, 156 MOCKINGBIRD LANE, TO REMOVE THE FENCING AT HARMON FIELD ON JACKSON STREET. IF MR. EATON IS ALLOWED TO KEEP THE FENCING HE WILL REMOVE THE FENCE AT NO COST

Mayor Brundige introduced for consideration a request from Mr. E. J. Eaton, 156 Mockingbird Lane, to remove the fencing at Harmon Field on Jackson Street. If Mr. Eaton is allowed to keep the fencing he will remove the fence at no cost.

Alderman Harrison stated I think this is great but we will need a time frame established to remove the fence.

Director Moore stated he would work out a timetable with Mr. Eaton.

Alderman Harrison made the motion to approve a request from Mr. E. J. Eaton, 156 Mockingbird Lane, to remove and keep the fencing at Harmon Field on Jackson Street. This would be done in a timely manner with no cost to the City, seconded by Alderman Hankins.

VOTE: UNANIMOUS VOICE VOTE OF APPROVAL

INTRODUCTION AND FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE O2008-05: AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE, ARTICLE VIII, SECTION A. <u>F-FLOOD DISTRICT</u> TO UPDATE THE CITY OF MARTIN'S FLOOD HAZARD REGULATIONS

Mayor Brundige introduced for consideration the first reading of Ordinance O2008-05: An ordinance to amend the Zoning Ordinance of Martin, Tennessee, Article VII, Section A. <u>F-Flood District</u> to update the City of Martin's Flood Hazard Regulations.

Recorder Mathis read Ordinance O2008-05. A copy was given to the press and any interested persons. A copy follows:

ORDINANCE O2008-05

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE, ARTICLE VIII. SECTION A. <u>F-FLOOD DISTRICT</u> TO UPDATE THE CITY OF MARTIN'S FLOOD HAZARD REGULATIONS.

WHEREAS, Section 13-7-204 of <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u> permits the amendment of the Zoning Ordinance of Martin, Tennessee; and,

WHEREAS, the Martin Municipal-Regional Planning Commission has recommended the amendment to the Zoning Ordinance described below in accordance with said section cited above; and,

WHEREAS, in accordance with <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u>, Section 13-7-203 the chief legislative body held a public hearing to obtain citizen input into of the said amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Commissioners of the City of Martin

Section 1. That the Martin Zoning Ordinance be amended by deleting the Section A. (F-Flood Districts) of Article VIII and replacing it with the following provisions;

I. <u>STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION, FINDINGS OF FACT, PURPOSE AND</u> <u>OBJECTIVES</u>

A. <u>Statutory Authorization</u>

The Legislature of the State of Tennessee has in Sections 13-7-201 through 13-7-210; <u>Tennessee</u> <u>Code Annotated</u> delegated the responsibility to local governmental units to adopt regulations designed to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of its citizenry. Therefore, the City of Martin, Tennessee Mayor and Board of Alderman, does ordain as follows:

B. <u>Findings of Fact</u>

- 1. The City of Martin's Mayor and its Board of Alderman wishes to maintain eligibility in the National Flood Insurance Program and in order to do so must meet the requirements of 60.3 of the Federal Insurance Administration Regulations found at 44 CFR Ch. 1 (10-1-04 Edition).
- 2. Areas of the City of Martin are subject to periodic inundation, which could result in loss of life and property, health and safety hazards, disruption of commerce and governmental services, extraordinary public expenditures for flood protection and relief, and impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect the public health, safety and general welfare.
- 3. These flood losses are caused by the cumulative effect of obstructions in floodplains, causing increases in flood heights and velocities; by uses in flood hazard areas which are vulnerable to floods; or construction which is inadequately elevated, flood-proofed, or otherwise unprotected from flood damages.

C. <u>Statement of Purpose</u>

It is the purpose of this Ordinance to promote the public health, safety and general welfare, and to minimize public and private losses due to flood conditions in specific areas. This Ordinance is designed to:

- 1. Restrict or prohibit uses which are vulnerable to water or erosion hazards, or which result in damaging increases in erosion, flood heights, or velocities;
- 2. Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including community facilities, be protected against flood damage at the time of initial construction;
- 3. Control the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels, and natural protective barriers which are involved in the accommodation floodwaters;

- 4. Control filling, grading, dredging and other development which may increase flood damage or erosion, and;
- 5. Prevent or regulate the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally divert floodwaters or which may increase flood hazards to other lands.

D. <u>Objectives</u>

The objectives of this Ordinance are:

- 1. To protect human life, health and property;
- 2. To minimize expenditure of public funds for costly flood control projects;
- 3. To minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding and generally undertaken at the expense of the general public;
- 4. To minimize prolonged business interruptions;
- 5. To minimize damage to public facilities and utilities such as water and gas mains, electric, telephone and sewer lines, streets and bridges located in floodable areas;
- 6. To help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the sound use and development of flood prone areas in such a manner as to minimize blight in flood areas;
- 7. To ensure that potential homebuyers are notified that property is in a floodable area; and
- 8. To maintain eligibility for participation in the National Flood Insurance Program.

II. <u>DEFINITIONS</u>

Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this Ordinance shall be interpreted as to give them the meaning they have in common usage and to give this Ordinance the most reasonable application given its stated purpose and objectives.

"Accessory Structure" shall represent a subordinate structure to the principal structure and, for the purpose of this section, shall conform to the following:

- 1. Accessory structures shall not be used for human habitation.
- 2. Accessory structures shall be designed to have low flood damage potential.
- 3. Accessory structures shall be constructed and placed on the building site so as to offer the minimum resistance to the flow of floodwaters.
- 4. Accessory structures shall be firmly anchored to prevent flotation, which may result in damage to other structures.
- 5. Service facilities such as electrical and heating equipment shall be elevated or flood proofed.

"Act" means the statutes authorizing the National Flood Insurance Program that are incorporated in 42 U.S.C. 4001-4128.

"Addition (to an existing building)" means any walled and roofed expansion to the perimeter of a building in which the addition is connected by a common load-bearing wall other than a firewall. Any walled and roofed addition, which is connected by a firewall or is separated by an independent perimeter load-bearing wall, shall be considered "New Construction".

"Appeal" means a request for a review of the local enforcement officer's interpretation of any provision of this Ordinance or a request for a variance.

"Area of Shallow Flooding" means a designated AO or AH Zone on a community's Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) with one percent or greater annual chance of flooding to an average depth of one to three feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist, where the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate; and where velocity flow may be evident. (Such flooding is characterized by ponding or sheet flow.)

"Area of Special Flood-related Erosion Hazard" is the land within a community which is most likely to be subject to severe flood-related erosion losses. The area may be designated as Zone E on the Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM). After the detailed evaluation of the special flood-related erosion hazard area in preparation for publication of the FIRM, Zone E may be further refined.

"Area of Special Flood Hazard" is the land in the floodplain within a community subject to a onepercent or greater chance of flooding in any given year. The area may be designated as Zone A on the FHBM. After detailed ratemaking has been completed in preparation for publication of the FIRM, Zone A usually is refined into Zones A, AO, AH, A1-30, AE or A99.

"Base Flood" means the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year.

"Basement" means that portion of a building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on all sides.

"**Breakaway Wall**" means a wall that is not part of the structural support of the building and is intended through its design and construction to collapse under specific lateral loading forces, without causing damage to the elevated portion of the building or supporting foundation system.

"**Building**" means any structure built for support, shelter, or enclosure for any occupancy or storage (See "**Structure**")

"Development" means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, but not limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavating, drilling operations, or permanent storage of equipment or materials.

"Elevated Building" means a non-basement building built to have the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area elevated above the ground level by means of fill, solid foundation perimeter walls with openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movement of floodwater, pilings, columns, piers, or shear walls adequately anchored so as not to impair the structural integrity of the building during a base flood event.

"Emergency Flood Insurance Program" or "Emergency Program" means the program as implemented on an emergency basis in accordance with section 1336 of the Act. It is intended as a program to provide a first layer amount of insurance on all insurable structures before the effective date of the initial FIRM.

"Erosion" means the process of the gradual wearing away of landmasses. This peril is not per se covered under the Program.

"Exception" means a waiver from the provisions of this Ordinance which relieves the applicant from the requirements of a rule, regulation, order or other determination made or issued pursuant to this Ordinance.

"Existing Construction" means any structure for which the "start of construction" commenced before the effective date of the first floodplain management code or ordinance adopted by the community as a basis for that community's participation in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP)).

"Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a manufactured home park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed before the effective date of the first floodplain management code or ordinance adopted by the community as a basis for that community's participation in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP)).

"Existing Structures" see "Existing Construction".

"Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means the preparation of additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads).

"Flood" or "Flooding" means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land areas from:

- 1. The overflow of inland or tidal waters;
- 2. The unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source.

"Flood Elevation Determination" means a determination by the Administrator of the water surface elevations of the base flood, that is, the flood level that has a one percent or greater chance of occurrence in any given year.

"Flood Elevation Study" means an examination, evaluation and determination of flood hazards and, if appropriate, corresponding water surface elevations, or an examination, evaluation and determination of mudslide (i.e., mudflow) or flood-related erosion hazards.

"Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM)" means an official map of a community, issued by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, where the boundaries of areas of special flood hazard have been designated as Zone A.

"Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM)" means an official map of a community, issued by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, delineating the areas of special flood hazard or the risk premium zones applicable to the community.

"Flood Insurance Study" is the official report provided by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, evaluating flood hazards and containing flood profiles and water surface elevation of the base flood.

"Floodplain" or "Flood-prone Area" means any land area susceptible to being inundated by water from any source (see definition of "flooding").

"**Floodplain Management**" means the operation of an overall program of corrective and preventive measures for reducing flood damage, including but not limited to emergency preparedness plans, flood control works and floodplain management regulations.

"Flood Protection System" means those physical structural works for which funds have been authorized, appropriated, and expended and which have been constructed specifically to modify flooding in order to reduce the extent of the area within a community subject to a "special flood hazard" and the extent of the depths of associated flooding. Such a system typically includes hurricane tidal barriers, dams, reservoirs, levees or dikes. These specialized flood modifying works are those constructed in conformance with sound engineering standards.

"Floodproofing" means any combination of structural and nonstructural additions, changes, or adjustments to structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real estate or improved real property, water and sanitary facilities, structures and their contents.

"Flood-related Erosion" means the collapse or subsidence of land along the shore of a lake or other body of water as a result of undermining caused by waves or currents of water exceeding anticipated cyclical levels or suddenly caused by an unusually high water level in a natural body of water, accompanied by a severe storm, or by an unanticipated force of nature, such as a flash flood, or by some similarly unusual and unforeseeable event which results in flooding.

"Flood-related Erosion Area" or "Flood-related Erosion Prone Area" means a land area adjoining the shore of a lake or other body of water, which due to the composition of the shoreline or bank and high water levels or wind-driven currents, is likely to suffer flood-related erosion damage.

"Flood-related Erosion Area Management" means the operation of an overall program of corrective and preventive measures for reducing flood-related erosion damage, including but not limited to emergency preparedness plans, flood-related erosion control works and flood plain management regulations.

"Floodway" means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a designated height.

"Floor" means the top surface of an enclosed area in a building (including basement), i.e., top of slab in concrete slab construction or top of wood flooring in wood frame construction. The term does not include the floor of a garage used solely for parking vehicles.

"**Freeboard**" means a factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a flood level for purposes of floodplain management. "Freeboard" tends to compensate for the many unknown factors that could contribute to flood heights greater than the height calculated for a selected size flood and floodway conditions, such as wave action, bridge openings and the hydrological effect of urbanization of the watershed.

''Functionally Dependent Use'' means a use which cannot perform its intended purpose unless it is located or carried out in close proximity to water. The term includes only docking facilities, port facilities that are necessary for the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers, and ship building and ship repair facilities, but does not include long-term storage or related manufacturing facilities.

"Highest Adjacent Grade" means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, prior to construction, adjacent to the proposed walls of a structure.

"Historic Structure" means any structure that is:

- 1. Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained by the U.S. Department of Interior) or preliminary determined by the Secretary of the Interior as meeting the requirements for individual listing on the National Register;
- 2. Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing to the historical significance of a registered historic district or a district preliminarily determined by the Secretary to qualify as a registered historic district;
- 3. Individually listed on the Tennessee inventory of historic places and determined as eligible by states with historic preservation programs which have been approved by the Secretary of the Interior; or
- 4. Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places and determined as eligible by communities with historic preservation programs that have been certified either:
 - a. By an approved state program as determined by the Secretary of the Interior, or
 - b. Directly by the Secretary of the Interior.

"Levee" means a man-made structure usually an earthen embankment, designed and constructed in accordance with sound engineering practices to contain, control, or divert the flow of water so as to provide protection from temporary flooding.

"Levee System" means a flood protection system, which consists of a levee, or levees, and associated structures, such as closure, and drainage devices, which are constructed and operated in accordance with sound engineering practices.

"Lowest Floor" means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area, including a basement. An unfinished or flood resistant enclosure used solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage in an area other than a basement area is not considered a building's lowest floor; provided, that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in violation of the applicable non-elevation design requirements of this Ordinance.

"Manufactured Home" means a structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a permanent chassis and designed for use with or without a permanent foundation when attached to the required utilities. The term "Manufactured Home" does not include a "Recreational Vehicle", unless such transportable structures are placed on a site for 180 consecutive days or longer.

"Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land divided into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale.

"**Map**" means the Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM) or the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for a community issued by the Agency.

"Mean Sea Level" means the average height of the sea for all stages of the tide. It is used as a reference for establishing various elevations within the floodplain. For the purposes of this Ordinance, the term is synonymous with National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) or other datum, to which base flood elevations shown on a community's Flood Insurance Rate Map are referenced.

"National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD)" as corrected in 1929 is a vertical control used as a reference for establishing varying elevations within the floodplain.

"New Construction" means any structure for which the "start of construction" commenced after the effective date of this ordinance or the effective date of the first floodplain management ordinance and includes any subsequent improvements to such structure.

"New Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a manufactured home park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed after the effective date of this ordinance or the effective date of the first floodplain management ordinance and includes any subsequent improvements to such structure.

"North American Vertical Datum (NAVD)" as corrected in 1988 is a vertical control used as a reference for establishing varying elevations within the floodplain.

"100-year Flood" see "Base Flood".

"**Person**" includes any individual or group of individuals, corporation, partnership, association, or any other entity, including State and local governments and agencies.

"Recreational Vehicle" means a vehicle, which is:

- 1. Built on a single chassis;
- 2. 400 square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection;
- 3. Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck; and

4. Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use.

"**Regulatory Floodway**" means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a designated height.

"Riverine" means relating to, formed by, or resembling a river (including tributaries), stream, brook, etc.

"**Special Hazard Area**" means an area having special flood, mudslide (i.e., mudflow) and/or flood-related erosion hazards, and shown on an FHBM or FIRM as Zone A, AO, A1-30, AE, A99, or AH.

"Start of Construction" includes substantial improvement, and means the date the building permit was issued, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, placement, or other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date. The actual start means either the first placement of permanent construction of a structure (including a manufactured home) on a site, such as the pouring of slabs or footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; and includes the placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. (Permanent construction does not include initial land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; nor does it include the installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, footings, piers, or foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds, not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure. For a substantial

improvement, the actual start of construction means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a building, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the building.

"State Coordinating Agency" The Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development's, Local Planning Assistance Office as designated by the Governor of the State of Tennessee at the request of the Administrator to assist in the implementation of the National Flood Insurance Program for the state.

"**Structure**" for purposes of this section, means a walled and roofed building that is principally above ground, a manufactured home, a gas or liquid storage tank, or other man-made facilities or infrastructures.

"Substantial Damage" means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of restoring the structure to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred.

"Substantial Improvement" means any repairs, reconstruction's, rehabilitation's, additions, alterations or other improvements to a structure, taking place during a 5-year period, in which the cumulative cost equals or exceeds fifty percent of the market value of the structure before the "start of construction" of the improvement. The market value of the structure should be (1) the appraised value of the structure prior to the start of the initial repair or improvement, or (2) in the case of damage, the value of the structure prior to the damage occurring. This term includes structures, which have incurred "substantial damage", regardless of the actual repair work performed.

For the purpose of this definition, "Substantial Improvement" is considered to occur when the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor or other structural part of the building commences, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the building. The term does not, however, include either: (1) Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been pre-identified by the local code enforcement official and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions and not solely triggered by an improvement or repair project or; (2) Any alteration of a "historic structure", provided that the alteration will not preclude the structure's continued designation as a "historic structure".

"Substantially Improved Existing Manufactured Home Parks or Subdivisions" is where the repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation or improvement of the streets, utilities and pads equals or exceeds 50 percent of the value of the streets, utilities and pads before the repair, reconstruction or improvement commenced.

"Variance" is a grant of relief from the requirements of this Ordinance which permits construction in a manner otherwise prohibited by this Ordinance where specific enforcement would result in unnecessary hardship.

"Violation" means the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with the community's floodplain management regulations. A structure or other development without the elevation certificate, other certification, or other evidence of compliance required in this Ordinance is presumed to be in violation until such time as that documentation is provided.

"Water Surface Elevation" means the height, in relation to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) of 1929, (or other datum, where specified) of floods of various magnitudes and frequencies in the floodplains of riverine areas.

III. <u>GENERAL PROVISIONS</u>

A. <u>Application</u>

This Ordinance shall apply to all areas within the incorporated area of Martin, Tennessee.

B. <u>Basis for Establishing the Areas of Special Flood Hazard</u>

The Areas of Special Flood Hazard identified on the City of Martin, Tennessee (Community #470202), Federal Emergency Management Agency, Flood Insurance Study (FIS) 47183CV00A and Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), Community Panel Numbers 47183C0182D, 47183C0184D, 47183C0201D, 47183C0202D, 47183C0203D, 47183C0204D and 47183C0210D, dated November 5, 2008, along with all supporting technical data, are adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this Ordinance.

C. <u>Requirement for Development Permit</u>

A development permit shall be required in conformity with this Ordinance prior to the commencement of any development activities.

D. <u>Compliance</u>

No land, structure or use shall hereafter be located, extended, converted or structurally altered without full compliance with the terms of this Ordinance and other applicable regulations.

E. <u>Abrogation and Greater Restrictions</u>

This Ordinance is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed restrictions. However, where this Ordinance conflicts or overlaps with another regulatory instrument, whichever imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail.

F. <u>Interpretation</u>

In the interpretation and application of this Ordinance, all provisions shall be:

- 1. considered as minimum requirements;
- 2. liberally construed in favor of the governing body; and,
- 3. deemed neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under Tennessee statutes.

G. <u>Warning and Disclaimer of Liability</u>

The degree of flood protection required by this Ordinance is considered reasonable for regulatory purposes and is based on scientific and engineering considerations. Larger floods can and will occur on rare occasions. Flood heights may be increased by man-made or natural causes. This Ordinance does not imply that land outside the Areas of Special Flood Hazard or uses permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or flood damages. This Ordinance shall not create liability on the part of the City of Martin, Tennessee or by any officer or employee thereof for any flood damages that result from reliance on this Ordinance or any administrative decision lawfully made hereunder.

H. <u>Penalties for Violation</u>

Violation of the provisions of this Ordinance or failure to comply with any of its requirements, including violation of conditions and safeguards established in connection with grants of variance shall constitute a misdemeanor punishable as other misdemeanors as provided by law. Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate offense. Nothing herein contained shall

prevent the City of Martin, Tennessee from taking such other lawful actions to prevent or remedy any violation.

IV. <u>ADMINISTRATION</u>

A. <u>Designation of Ordinance Administrator</u>

The Building Official is hereby appointed as the Administrator to implement the provisions of this Ordinance.

B. <u>Permit Procedures</u>

Application for a development permit shall be made to the Administrator on forms furnished by the community prior to any development activities. The development permit may include, but is not limited to the following: plans in duplicate drawn to scale and showing the nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area in question; existing or proposed structures, earthen fill placement, storage of materials or equipment, and drainage facilities. Specifically, the following information is required:

1. <u>Application stage</u>

- a. Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor, including basement, of all buildings where BFE's are available, or to the highest adjacent grade when applicable under this Ordinance.
- b. Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non-residential building will be floodproofed where BFE's are available, or to the highest adjacent grade when applicable under this Ordinance.
- c. Design certificate from a registered professional engineer or architect that the proposed nonresidential flood-proofed building will meet the flood-proofing criteria in IV. B.
- d. Description of the extent to which any watercourse will be altered or relocated as a result of proposed development.
- 2. <u>Construction Stage</u>

Within unnumbered A zones, where flood elevation data are not available, the Administrator shall record the elevation of the lowest floor on the development permit. The elevation of the lowest floor shall be determined as the measurement of the lowest floor of the building relative to the highest adjacent grade.

For all new construction and substantial improvements, the permit holder shall provide to the Administrator an as-built certification of the regulatory floor elevation or floodproofing level upon the completion of the lowest floor or floodproofing. Within unnumbered A zones, where flood elevation data is not available, the elevation of the lowest floor shall be determined as the measurement of the lowest floor of the building relative to the highest adjacent grade.

Any lowest floor certification made relative to mean sea level shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of, a registered land surveyor and certified by same. When floodproofing is utilized for a non-residential building said certification shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of, a professional engineer or architect and certified by same.

Any work undertaken prior to submission of the certification shall be at the permit holder's risk. The Administrator shall review the above-referenced certification data. Deficiencies detected by such

review shall be corrected by the permit holder immediately and prior to further work being allowed to proceed. Failure to submit the certification or failure to make said corrections required hereby shall be cause to issue a stop-work order for the project.

C. <u>Duties and Responsibilities of the Administrator</u>

Duties of the Administrator shall include, but not be limited to:

- 1. Review of all development permits to assure that the permit requirements of this Ordinance have been satisfied, and that proposed building sites will be reasonably safe from flooding.
- 2. Advice to permittee that additional federal or state permits may be required, and if specific federal or state permit requirements are known, require that copies of such permits be provided and maintained on file with the development permit. This shall include Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U. S. C. 1334.
- 3. Notification to adjacent communities and the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development, Local Planning Assistance Office, prior to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse, and submission of evidence of such notification to the Federal Emergency Management Agency.
- 4. For any altered or relocated watercourse, submit engineering data/analysis within six (6) months to the Federal Emergency Management Agency to ensure accuracy of community flood maps through the Letter of Map Revision process. Assure that the flood carrying capacity within an altered or relocated portion of any watercourse is maintained.
- 5. Record the elevation, in relation to mean sea level or the highest adjacent grade, where applicable of the lowest floor including basement of all new or substantially improved buildings, in accordance with IV. B.
- 6. Record the actual elevation; in relation to mean sea level or the highest adjacent grade, where applicable to which the new or substantially improved buildings have been flood-proofed, in accordance with IV. B.
- When flood proofing is utilized for a structure, the Administrator shall obtain certification of design criteria from a registered professional engineer or architect, in accordance with IV. B.
- 8. Where interpretation is needed as to the exact location of boundaries of the areas of special flood hazard (for example, where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary and actual field conditions) the Administrator shall make the necessary interpretation. Any person contesting the location of the boundary shall be given a reasonable opportunity to appeal the interpretation as provided in this Ordinance.
- 9. When base flood elevation data or floodway data have not been provided by the Federal Emergency Management Agency then the Administrator shall obtain, review and reasonably utilize any base flood elevation and floodway data available from a Federal, State, or other sources, including data developed as a result of these regulations, as criteria for requiring that new construction, substantial improvements, or other development in Zone A on the Community FIRM meet the requirements of this Ordinance.

Within unnumbered A zones, where base flood elevations have not been established and where alternative data is not available, the Administrator shall require the lowest floor of a

building to be elevated or floodproofed to a level of at least three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade (lowest floor and highest adjacent grade being defined in II of this Ordinance). All applicable data including elevations or flood proofing certifications shall be recorded as set forth in IV. B.

10. All records pertaining to the provisions of this Ordinance shall be maintained in the office of the Administrator and shall be open for public inspection. Permits issued under the provisions of this Ordinance shall be maintained in a separate file or marked for expedited retrieval within combined files.

V. PROVISIONS FOR FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION

A. <u>General Standards</u>

In all flood prone areas the following provisions are required:

- 1. New construction and substantial improvements to existing buildings shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement of the structure;
- 2. Manufactured homes shall be elevated and anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement. Methods of anchoring may include, but are not limited to, use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors. This standard shall be in addition to and consistent with applicable state requirements for resisting wind forces;
- 3. New construction and substantial improvements to existing buildings shall be constructed with materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage;
- 4. New construction or substantial improvements to existing buildings shall be constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damage;
- 5. All electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning equipment, and other service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding;
- 6. New and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the system;
- 7. New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges from the systems into flood waters;
- 8. On-site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them during flooding;
- 9. Any alteration, repair, reconstruction or improvements to a building that is in compliance with the provisions of this Ordinance, shall meet the requirements of "new construction" as contained in this Ordinance; and,
- 10. Any alteration, repair, reconstruction or improvements to a building that is not in compliance with the provision of this Ordinance, shall be undertaken only if said non-conformity is not further extended or replaced.

B. <u>Specific Standards</u>

These provisions shall apply to ALL Areas of Special Flood Hazard as provided herein:

1. <u>Residential Construction</u>. Where base flood elevation data is available, new construction or substantial improvement of any residential building (or manufactured home) shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated no lower than one (1) foot above the base flood elevation. Should solid foundation perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, openings sufficient to facilitate equalization of flood hydrostatic forces on both sides of exterior walls and to ensure unimpeded movement of floodwater shall be provided in accordance with the standards of V. B.

Within unnumbered A zones, where base flood elevations have not been established and where alternative data is not available, the Administrator shall require the lowest floor of a building to be elevated or floodproofed to a level of at least three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade (lowest floor and highest adjacent grade being defined in II of this Ordinance). All applicable data including elevations or flood proofing certifications shall be recorded as set forth in IV. B.

2. <u>Non-Residential Construction</u>. New construction or substantial improvement of any commercial, industrial, or non-residential building, when BFE data is available, shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated or floodproofed no lower than one (1) foot above the level of the base flood elevation.

Within unnumbered A zones, where base flood elevations have not been established and where alternative data is not available, the Administrator shall require the lowest floor of a building to be elevated or floodproofed to a level of at least three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade (lowest floor and highest adjacent grade being defined in II of this Ordinance). All applicable data including elevations or flood proofing certifications shall be recorded as set forth in IV. B.

Buildings located in all A-zones may be flood-proofed, in lieu of being elevated, provided that all areas of the building below the required elevation are watertight, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and are built with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effects of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions above, and shall provide such certification to the Administrator as set forth in IV. B.

- 3. <u>Elevated Building</u>. All new construction or substantial improvements to existing buildings that include ANY fully enclosed areas formed by foundation and other exterior walls below the base flood elevation, or required height above the highest adjacent grade, shall be designed to preclude finished living space and designed to allow for the entry and exit of flood waters to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls.
 - a. Designs for complying with this requirement must either be certified by a professional engineer or architect or meet the following minimum criteria.
 - 1) Provide a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding;

- 2) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above the finish grade; and
- 3) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves or other coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of floodwaters in both directions.
- b. Access to the enclosed area shall be the minimum necessary to allow for parking of vehicles (garage door) or limited storage of maintenance equipment used in connection with the premises (standard exterior door) or entry to the elevated living area (stairway or elevator); and
- c. The interior portion of such enclosed area shall not be partitioned or finished into separate rooms in such a way as to impede the movement of floodwaters and all such petitions shall comply with the provisions of V. B. of this Ordinance.

4. <u>Standards for Manufactured Homes and Recreational Vehicles</u>

- All manufactured homes placed, or substantially improved, on: (1) individual lots or parcels, (2) in expansions to existing manufactured home parks or subdivisions, or (3) in new or substantially improved manufactured home parks or subdivisions, must meet all the requirements of new construction, including elevations and anchoring.
- b. All manufactured homes placed or substantially improved in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision must be elevated so that either:
 - 1) When base flood elevations are available the lowest floor of the manufactured home is elevated on a permanent foundation no lower than one (1) foot above the level of the base flood elevation; or,
 - 2) Absent base flood elevations the manufactured home chassis is elevated and supported by reinforced piers (or other foundation elements) at least three (3) feet in height above the highest adjacent grade.
- c. Any manufactured home, which has incurred "substantial damage" as the result of a flood or that has substantially improved, must meet the standards of V. B. 4 of this Ordinance.
- d. All manufactured homes must be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse and lateral movement.
- e. All recreational vehicles placed on identified flood hazard sites must either:
 - 1) Be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days;
 - 2) Be fully licensed and ready for highway use. (A recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is licensed, on its wheels or jacking system, attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities and security devices, and has no permanently attached structures or additions.
 - 3) The recreational vehicle must meet all the requirements for new construction, including the anchoring and elevation requirements of this section above if on the site for longer than 180 consecutive days.

5. <u>Standards for Subdivisions</u>

Subdivisions and other proposed new developments, including manufactured home parks, shall be reviewed to determine whether such proposals will be reasonably safe from flooding. If a subdivision proposal or other proposed new development is in a flood-prone area, any such proposals shall be reviewed to ensure that:

- a. All subdivision proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize flood damage.
- b. All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems located and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage.
- c. All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards.
- d. Base flood elevation data shall be provided for subdivision proposals and other proposed developments (including manufactured home parks and subdivisions) that are greater than fifty lots and/or five acres in area.

C. <u>Standards for Areas of Special Flood Hazard with Established Base Flood Elevations</u> and With Floodways Designated

Located within the Areas of Special Flood Hazard established in III. B, are areas designated as floodways. A floodway may be an extremely hazardous area due to the velocity of floodwaters, debris or erosion potential. In addition, the area must remain free of encroachment in order to allow for the discharge of the base flood without increased flood heights and velocities. Therefore, the following provisions shall apply:

- 1. Encroachments are prohibited, including earthen fill material, new construction, substantial improvements or other developments within the regulatory floodway. Development may be permitted however, provided it is demonstrated through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed in accordance with standard engineering practices that the cumulative effect of the proposed encroachments or new development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated development, shall not result in ANY increase the water surface elevation of the base flood level, velocities or floodway widths during the occurrence of a base flood discharge at any point within the community. A registered professional engineer must provide supporting technical data and certification thereof.
- 2. New construction or substantial improvements of buildings shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of V.

D. <u>Standards for Areas of Special Flood Hazard Zones AE with Established Base Flood</u> Elevations but Without Floodways Designated

Located within the Areas of Special Flood Hazard established in III. B, where streams exist with base flood data provided but where no floodways have been designated, (Zones AE) the following provisions apply:

1. No encroachments, including fill material, new structures or substantial improvements shall be located within areas of special flood hazard, unless certification by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that the cumulative effect of the proposed

development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the base flood more than one (1) foot at any point within the community. The engineering certification should be supported by technical data that conforms to standard hydraulic engineering principles.

2. New construction or substantial improvements of buildings shall be elevated or flood-proofed to elevations established in accordance with V. B.

E. <u>Standards for Streams without Established Base Flood Elevations or Floodways (A</u> Zones)

Located within the Areas of Special Flood Hazard established in III, where streams exist, but no base flood data has been provided (A Zones), OR where a Floodway has not been delineated, the following provisions shall apply:

- 1. When base flood elevation data or floodway data have not been provided in accordance with III, then the Administrator shall obtain, review and reasonably utilize any scientific or historic base flood elevation and floodway data available from a Federal, State or other source, in order to administer the provisions of V. ONLY if data is not available from these sources, then the following provisions (2 & 3) shall apply:
- 2. No encroachments, including structures or fill material, shall be located within an area equal to the width of the stream or twenty feet, whichever is greater, measured from the top of the stream bank, unless certification by registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the base flood more than one (1) foot at any point within the community. The engineering certification should be supported by technical data that conforms to standard hydraulic engineering principles.
- 3. In special flood hazard areas without base flood elevation data, new construction or substantial improvements of existing shall have the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement) elevated no less than three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade at the building site. Openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movements of floodwaters shall be provided in accordance with the standards of V, B, and "Elevated Buildings".

F. <u>Standards for Areas of Shallow Flooding (AO and AH Zones)</u>

Located within the Areas of Special Flood Hazard established in III, B, are areas designated as shallow flooding areas. These areas have special flood hazards associated with base flood depths of one to three feet (l'-3') where a clearly defined channel does not exist and where the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate; therefore, the following provisions apply:

1. All new construction and substantial improvements of residential and non-residential buildings shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to at least one (1') foot above the flood depth number specified on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), in feet, above the highest adjacent grade. If no flood depth number is specified, the lowest floor, including basement, shall be elevated, at least three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade. Openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movements of floodwaters shall be provided in accordance with standards of V, B, and "Elevated Buildings".

- 2. All new construction and substantial improvements of nonresidential buildings may be flood-proofed in lieu of elevation. The structure together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities must be flood proofed and designed watertight to be completely flood-proofed to at least one (1') foot above the specified FIRM flood level, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effects of buoyancy. If no depth number is specified, the lowest floor, including basement, shall be flood proofed to at least three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions of this ordinance and shall provide such certification to the Administrator as set forth above and as required in IV, B.
- 3. Adequate drainage paths shall be provided around slopes to guide floodwaters around and away from proposed structures.
- 4. The Administrator shall certify the elevation or the highest adjacent grade, where applicable, and the record shall become a permanent part of the permit file.

G. <u>Standards for Areas Protected by Flood Protection System (A-99 Zones)</u>

Located within the areas of special flood hazard established in III are areas of the 100-year floodplain protected by a flood protection system but where base flood elevations and flood hazard factors have not been determined. Within these areas (A-99 Zones) all provisions of IV. And V. A. shall apply.

H. <u>Standards for Unmapped Streams</u>

Located within Martin, Tennessee are unmapped streams where areas of special flood hazard are neither indicated nor identified. Adjacent to such streams the following provisions shall apply:

- 1. In areas adjacent to such unmapped streams, no encroachments including fill material or structures shall be located within an area of at least equal to twice the width of the stream, measured from the top of each stream bank, unless certification by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the base flood more than one (1) foot at any point within the locality.
- 2. When new elevation data is available, new construction or substantial improvements of buildings shall be elevated or flood proofed to elevations established in accordance with IV.

VI. <u>VARIANCE PROCEDURES</u>

The provisions of this section shall apply exclusively to areas of Special Flood Hazard within Martin, Tennessee.

A. <u>Board of Zoning Appeals</u>

- 1. The City of Martin's Board of Zoning Appeals shall hear and decide appeals and requests for variances from the requirements of this Ordinance.
- 2. Variances may be issued for the repair or rehabilitation of historic structures (see definition) upon a determination that the proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the

structure's continued designation as a historic structure and the variance is the minimum to preserve the historic character and design of the structure.

- 3. In passing upon such applications, the Board of Zoning Appeals shall consider all technical evaluations, all relevant factors, all standards specified in other sections of this Ordinance, and:
 - a. The danger that materials may be swept onto other property to the injury of others;
 - b. The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion;
 - c. The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage;
 - d. The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community;
 - e. The necessity of the facility to a waterfront location, in the case of a functionally dependent facility;
 - f. The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, for the proposed use;
 - g. The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and floodplain management program for that area;
 - h. The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency vehicles;
 - i. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise and sediment transport of the flood waters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site, and;
 - j. The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions including maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems, and streets and bridges.
- 4. Upon consideration of the factors listed above, and the purposes of this Ordinance, the Board of Floodplain Review may attach such conditions to the granting of variances as it deems necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Ordinance.
- 5. Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood levels during the base flood discharge would result.

B. <u>Conditions for Variances</u>

- 1. Variances shall be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum relief necessary, considering the flood hazard; and in the instance of a historical building, a determination that the variance is the minimum relief necessary so as not to destroy the historic character and design of the building.
- 2. Variances shall only be issued upon: a showing of good and sufficient cause, a determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship; or a determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, create nuisance, cause fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or Ordinances.
- 3. Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice that the issuance of a variance to construct a structure below the base flood level will result in increased

premium rates for flood insurance, and that such construction below the base flood level increases risks to life and property.

4. The Administrator shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and report any variances to the Federal Emergency Management Agency upon request.

VII. <u>LEGAL STATUS PROVISIONS</u>

A. <u>Conflict with Other Ordinances</u>

In case of conflict between this Ordinance or any part thereof, and the whole or part of any existing or future Ordinance of Martin, Tennessee, the most restrictive shall in all cases apply.

B. <u>Validity</u>

If any section, clause, provision, or portion of this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect any other section, clause, provision, or portion of this Ordinance, which is not of itself invalid or unconstitutional.

C. <u>Effective Date</u>

This Ordinance shall become effective immediately after its passage, in accordance with the Charter of Martin, Tennessee, and the public welfare demanding it.

Section 2. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after its passage, the health safety and welfare of the City requiring it.

Recommended by the Martin Municipal Planning Commission August 25, 2008.

1st Reading

Public Hearing

2nd Reading

Approved and adopted by the Martin, Tenr	nessee Mayor and Board of Alderman on:	/	/
ATTEST:	SIGNED:		

Chris Mathis, CPA

City Recorder Martin Tennessee

Alderman Nanney made the motion to approve the first reading Ordinance O2008-05: An ordinance to amend the Zoning Ordinance of Martin, Tennessee, Article VII, Section A. <u>F-Flood District</u> to update the City of Martin's Flood Hazard Regulations, seconded by Alderman Tuck.

Randy Brundige,

Mayor

Building Inspector stated this update is needed for the City of Martin's flood insurance program without it no one could get flood insurance.

VOTE	: FOR:	ALDERMEN NANNEY
		ALDERMAN HARRISON
		ALDERMAN BELOTE
		ALDERMAN TUCK
		ALDERMAN HANKINS
		ALDERMAN EDWARDS
	AGAINST:	NONE

Mayor Brundige declared the Ordinance approved on the first reading and set the second and final reading for October 13, 2008, at 5:15 pm in the City Hall Courtroom.

INTRODUCTION AND READING OF RESOLUTION R2008-15: A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE APPROPRIATING FUNDS AND ESTABLISHING A PROPERTY TAX RATE FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2008 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2009. PUBLISHED IN THE WEAKLEY COUNTY PRESS AUGUST 28, 2008.

Mayor Brundige introduced for consideration Resolution R2008-15: A resolution of the City of Martin, Tennessee appropriating funds and establishing a property tax rate for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2008 and ending June 30, 2009. Published in the Weakley County Press August 28, 2008.

Recorder Mathis read Resolution R2008-15. A copy was provided for the press and any interested person. A copy follows:

RESOLUTION R2008-15

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE APPROPRIATING FUNDS AND ESTABLISHING A PROPERTY TAX RATE FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2008 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2009

SECTION 1. BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of Martin, Tennessee, assembled in regular session on the 8th day of September, 2008 that the amounts hereafter set out are hereby appropriated for the purpose of meeting the expenses of the various funds of MARTIN, TENNESSEE, for capital projects and for meeting the payment of principal and interest on the City's debts maturing during the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2008, and ending June 30, 2009, according to the following schedule:

General Fund Expenditures (Including debt payments)	\$ 7,620,458
State Street Aid Fund Expenditures	446,000
Library Gift Fund Expenditures	43,200
Housing Rehab Fund Expenditures	5,000
Friends of the Park Fund Expenditures	167,500
Cemetery Fund Expenditures	2,400
Drug Enforcement Fund Expenditures	35,700

SECTION 2. BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that expenditures in excess of the above may be made only with an appropriate resolution amending this resolution. Such action shall include a statement as to the source of revenue to finance the proposed expenditures.

SECTION 3. BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, there is hereby a property tax of \$1.4772 per \$100.00 of assessed value for the purpose of funding municipal services.

SECTION 4. BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that all unencumbered balances of appropriations remaining at the end of the fiscal year shall lapse, and be of no further effect at the end of the fiscal year, June 30, 2008, except for capital projects.

SECTION 5. BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any motion, resolution part of a motion, or part of a resolution which has been heretofore passed by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen which is in conflict with any provision of this resolution be and the same is hereby repealed.

SECTION 6. BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the unexpended and appropriation balance of utility capital projects for the year June 30, 2008, shall not lapse,

SECTION 7. BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED. That this resolution shall take effect from and after its passage and its provisions shall be in force from and after July 1, 2008. This resolution shall be spread upon the minutes of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the City of Martin, Tennessee.

ATTEST:

SIGNED:

Chris Mathis, CPA City Recorder Randy Brundige, Mayor

Motion made by Alderman _____ that the foregoing resolution be approved; seconded by Alderman _____. Upon being put to a roll call vote, the motion passed. Date approved _____, 2008. Published in the Weakley County Press on the 28th day of August 2008.

Alderman Tuck made the motion to approve Resolution R2008-15: A resolution of the City of Martin, Tennessee, appropriating funds and establishing a property tax rate for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2008 and ending June 30, 2009, seconded by Alderman Belote.

VOTE:	FOR:	ALDERMEN NANNEY
		ALDERMAN HARRISON
		ALDERMAN BELOTE
		ALDERMAN TUCK
		ALDERMAN HANKINS
		ALDERMAN EDWARDS
А	GAINST:	NONE

Mayor Brundige declared Resolution R2008-15 approved.

INTRODUCTION AND FIRST READING OF RESOLUTION R2008-16: A RESOLUTION MAKING APPROPRIATION TO CERTAIN NON-PROFIT CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 01, 2008 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2009

Mayor Brundige introduced for consideration the first reading of Resolution R2008-16: A resolution making appropriations to certain non-profit charitable organizations, for the fiscal year beginning July 01, 2008 and ending June 30, 2009.

A copy of Resolution R2008-16 was provided for the press and any interested person. A copy follows:

RESOLUTION R2008-16

A RESOLUTION MAKING APPROPRIATIONS TO CERTAIN NON-PROFIT CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2008 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2009

WHEREAS, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen for the City of Martin, Tennessee have determined that it would benefit the general welfare of the residents of Martin if appropriations were made to certain non-profit charitable organizations: and

WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated 6-54-111 allows the legislative body of a municipality to appropriate funds under certain conditions for non-profit charitable organizations.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen for the City of Martin, that

- **SECTION 1.** a. One thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) be appropriated to the Kiwanis Club for the annual Christmas parade.
 - b. Seven thousand dollars (\$7,000.00) be appropriated to Community Developmental Services, Inc.
 - c. Twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000.00) be appropriated for the community activity Soybean Festival.
 - d. One thousand, five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00) be appropriated for the Carl Perkins Center.
 - e. Three thousand dollars (\$3,000.00) be appropriated to the Miss Tennessee Soybean Scholarship.
 - f. Five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) be appropriated for the Weakley County Reading Railroad.

- **SECTION 2.** In accordance with T.C.A. 6-65-111, this appropriation is made on the condition that the non-profit charitable organization for which these funds are appropriated shall file with the City Recorder's office a copy of an annual report of its business and transactions, which includes, but is not limited to, a copy of an annual audit, its programs which serve the residents of the City of Martin and the proposed use of the municipal assistance. The City Recorder shall consult with appropriate officials of the organization and auditors for the City to determine the extent of the information, which shall satisfy the requirement of this section.
- **SECTION 3.** It is the expressed intent of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the City of Martin in making this appropriation to be fully in compliance with T.C.A. 6-54-111 and Chapter 0380-3-7 of the Rules of the Comptroller of the Treasury, State of Tennessee.

SECTION 4. This resolution shall take effect upon its passage, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.

ATTEST:

SIGNED:

Chris Mathis, City Recorder, CPA

Randy Brundige, Mayor

INTRODUCED AND PASSED FIRST READING ______.

PASSED SECOND READING ______.

Alderman Edwards made the motion to approve the first reading Resolution R2008-16: A resolution making appropriations to certain non-profit charitable organizations, for the fiscal year beginning July 01, 2008 and ending June 30, 2009, seconded by Alderman Belote.

VOTE: FOR: ALDERMEN NANNEY ALDERMAN HARRISON ALDERMAN BELOTE ALDERMAN TUCK ALDERMAN HANKINS ALDERMAN EDWARDS AGAINST: NONE

Mayor Brundige declared Resolution R2008-16 approved on the first reading and set the second and final reading for October 13, 2008 at 5:15 pm in the City Hall Courtroom.

INTRODUCTION AND READING OF RESOLUTION R2008-17: A RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH A MANDATORY RETIREMENT AGE REQUIREMENT OF AGE SIXTY (60) FOR QUALIFIED PUBLIC SAFETY OFFICERS

Mayor Brundige introduced and presented for consideration Resolution R2008-17: A resolution to establish a mandatory retirement age requirement of age sixty (60) for qualified Public Safety Officers.

Recorder Mathis read Resolution R2008-17. A copy was provided for the press and any interested persons. A copy follows:

RESOLUTION R2008-17

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System

A RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH Α MANDATORY RETIREMENT AGE **REQUIREMENT OF** AGE SIXTY (60) PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-205, TO AUTHORIZE THE PAYMENT OF THE SUPPLEMENTAL BRIDGE BENEFIT PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-211, AND TO AUTHORIZE GROUP 1 MEMBERS WHO HAVE CREDITABLE SERVICE IN A GROUP 1 POSITION COVERED BY SUCH MANDATORY AGE RETIREMENT TO RETIRE ON SERVICE RETIREMENT BENEFITS UPON ATTAINMENT OF AGE FIFTY-FIVE (55) WITH TWENTY-FIVE (25) YEARS OF CREDITABLE SERVICE PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-201(A)(2).

WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205 provides that any political subdivision participating in the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System may establish a mandatory retirement age requirement for all its firefighters and police officers, and for all its employees who have been transferred from such a position to a supervisory or administrative position within the political subdivision's police or fire department; provided that:

(A) the mandatory retirement of any such employee does not violate the Age Discrimination in Employment Act. In case of doubt, the respective political subdivision with the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System shall determine whether the employee is employed in a position requiring the mandatory retirement of such employee under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205(a)(2);

(B) the terms and conditions of the requirement shall be the same for all such employees within its employ;

(C) the mandatory age requirement *shall be* sixty (60) years of age;

(D) after the initial transition period as set in this Resolution, each such employee shall be retired on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee attains age sixty (60), or age sixty-two (62) if at least fifty percent (50%) of the position is administrative. The chief of a police department or of a fire department may continue in service beyond the age requirement for receipt of old age and survivors benefits under Title II of the Federal Social Security Act;

(E) Each such employee shall be entitled to the supplemental bridge benefit established pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211; and

(F) the chief governing body of the political subdivision passes a resolution authorizing the establishment of the mandatory retirement age requirement, and further accepts the liability associated with the granting of the supplemental bridge benefit. All costs associated with providing the supplemental benefit shall be paid by the political subdivision and not by the State; and

WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-201(a)(2) further authorizes any political subdivision that establishes a mandatory retirement age requirement of sixty (60) to permit Group 1 members who have creditable service in a Group 1 position covered by such mandatory retirement age requirement to retire on service retirement benefits upon attainment of age fifty-five (55) with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service, provided that the service retirement benefits be based on the years of creditable service rendered and the average final compensation received while the Group 1 member served in a Group 1 position covered by the mandatory retirement provisions. If the member's total years of creditable service is less than thirty (30) or if the attained age is less than sixty (60), all other service shall be calculated under the reduced (early) retirement provisions; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Martin, Tennessee, desires to establish a mandatory retirement age requirement of age sixty (60) pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205, to grant the supplemental bridge benefit pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211, and to allow Group 1 members who have creditable service in a Group 1 position covered by such mandatory retirement age requirement to retire on service retirement benefits pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211, and to allow Group 1 members who have creditable service in a Group 1 position covered by such mandatory retirement age requirement to retire on service retirement benefits pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-201(a)(2); and

WHEREAS, the Governing Body of the above-named Political Subdivision acknowledges that the costs associated with the granting of the supplemental bridge benefit pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211 and of service retirement benefits pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-201(a)(2) shall increase its accrued liability rate by 3.5% of the covered payroll of the affected employees; and

WHEREAS, the Governing Body of the above-named Political Subdivision further acknowledges that *if* an employee reaches the mandatory retirement age of sixty (60), the political subdivision shall determine whether the employee subject to such retirement age requirement serves in a supervisory or administrative position which requires less than fifty percent (50%) of the employee's duties to be involved in day-to-day law enforcement or fire fighting activities. If the Political Subdivision makes any such determination, then the employee may continue in service

until the first day of the month following the month in which the employee attains sixty-two (62) years of age; provided such employee completes any form as may be required pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211 and files the same at the time and in the manner prescribed in Section 8-36-211.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Governing Body of the above-named Political Subdivision hereby establishes a mandatory retirement age requirement of sixty (60) pursuant to the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Governing Body of the above-named Political Subdivision authorizes that the supplemental bridge benefit established pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211 be paid to each Group 1 member who retires on a service retirement allowance on or after the attainment of age fifty-five (55) with creditable service in a Group 1 position covered by the mandatory retirement age requirement established pursuant to this resolution and hereby agrees to accept the associated liability. Said payment to be made until the first day of the month following the month in which the member dies, or until the first day of the month following the month in which the member reaches the age requirement for receipt of old age and survivor's benefits under Title II of the Federal Social Security Act.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Governing Body of the above-named Political Subdivision authorizes its Group 1 members who have creditable service in a Group 1 position covered by such mandatory retirement age requirement to retire on service retirement benefits upon attainment of age fifty-five (55) with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service, provided that the service retirement benefits be based on the years of creditable service rendered and the average final compensation received while the Group 1 member served in a Group 1 position covered by the mandatory retirement provisions. If the member's total years of creditable service is less than thirty (30) or if the attained age is less than sixty (60), all other service shall be calculated under the reduced (early) retirement provisions.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the effective date of this Resolution shall be on August 08, 2008, with a transitional deferral date of January 01, 2009, for the enforcement of the mandatory retirement age requirement (which date cannot be later than the July 1 following twelve (12) months after the effective date of the resolution). Any such deferral period shall not apply to any other provisions of this Resolution, such provisions being effective on the effective date of this Resolution.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution shall become effective immediately upon effective date, **THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT**.

Motion made by Alderman _____ that the foregoing resolution be approved. Seconded by Alderman _____. Upon being put to a roll call vote, the motion passed on the __ day of ____ 2008.

ATTEST:

SIGNED:

Chris Mathis, CPA City Recorder Randy Brundige, Mayor Alderman Harrison made the motion to approve Resolution R2008-17: A resolution to establish a mandatory retirement age requirement of age sixty (60) for qualified Public Safety Officers, seconded by Alderman Belote.

VOTE: FOR: ALDERMEN NANNEY ALDERMAN HARRISON ALDERMAN BELOTE ALDERMAN TUCK ALDERMAN HANKINS ALDERMAN EDWARDS AGAINST: NONE

Mayor Brundige declared Resolution R2008-17 approved.

INTRODUCTION OF RESOLUTION R2008-18: RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF INTEREST BEARING GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL OUTLAY NOTES, SERIES 2008, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED \$426,000, AND PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF SAID NOTES

Mayor Brundige introduced and presented for consideration Resolution R2008-18: Resolution of the City of Martin, Tennessee, authorizing the issuance of interest bearing General Obligation Capital Outlay Notes, Series 2008, in an amount not to exceed \$426,000.00 and providing for payment of said notes.

Recorder Mathis read Resolution R2008-18. A copy was provided for the press and any interested persons. A copy follows:

RESOLUTION 2008-18

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE, AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF INTEREST BEARING GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL OUTLAY NOTES, SERIES 2008, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED \$426,000, AND PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF SAID NOTES

<u>WHEREAS</u>, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen (the "Board") of the City of Martin, Tennessee (the "Municipality"), has determined that it is necessary and desirable to authorize, issue, sell, and provide for the payment of its interest bearing capital outlay notes to finance certain public works projects, consisting of the acquisition of vehicles and equipment for the Police, Fire, and Parks Departments of the Municipality, renovation, improvements, and equipping of municipal buildings of the Municipality and funds to be used in the construction of the Brian Brown Greenway, the acquisition of all other property real and personal appurtenant thereto and connected with such work, and to pay all legal, fiscal, administrative, and engineering costs, incident thereto (collectively, the "Project"), and costs incident to the financing thereof; <u>WHEREAS</u>, the Municipality finds and determines that the Project is essential to the health, welfare, and safety of the public;

<u>WHEREAS</u>, in order to proceed as expeditiously as possible with such an essential Project, it is necessary that interest bearing capital outlay notes be issued for the purpose of providing funds to finance the Project; and,

<u>WHEREAS</u>, the Municipality is authorized by the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 21, <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u>, as amended, to issue such notes for said purposes upon the approval of the State of Tennessee Director of Local Finance (the "Director of Local Finance"):

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS:

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Authority</u>. The Notes herein authorized shall be issued pursuant to Title 9, Chapter 21, <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u>, as amended, and other applicable provisions of law.

<u>Section 2</u>. <u>Authorization</u>. For the purpose of providing funds to finance the costs of the Project there shall be issued pursuant to, and in accordance with, the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 21, <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u>, as amended, and other applicable provisions of law, the interest bearing capital outlay notes of the Municipality, in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed \$426,000, or such lesser amount as may be determined by the Mayor of the Municipality (the "Mayor") at the time of sale (collectively, the "Notes", individually, the "Note"). The term of the Notes shall not exceed the reasonably expected economic life of the Project, which is hereby certified to be at least the term of the Notes.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Terms of the Notes</u>. The Notes shall be designated "General Obligation Capital Outlay Notes, Series 2008". The Notes shall be issued in registered form, without coupons, in minimum denominations of \$5,000. The Notes shall be numbered from 1 upwards, shall be dated the date of issuance and delivery, shall be sold at not less than the par amount thereof, shall bear interest at a rate or rates not to exceed 6% per annum, such interest being payable at such times as agreed upon with the purchaser of such Notes, but in no event less than semiannually each year commencing six months from the dated date or such date as shall be designated by the Mayor (the "Interest Payment Date"), and shall mature not later than the end of the twelfth fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the notes are issued. Each year the Notes are outstanding the Municipality shall retire principal on the Notes in an amount that is estimated to be at least equal to an amortization, which reflects level debt service on the Notes. The Notes shall contain such terms, conditions, and provisions other than as expressly provided or limited herein as may be agreed upon by the Mayor of the Municipality and the purchaser of the Notes.

Interest on the Notes shall be payable by wire transfer, electronic means, or by check or other form of draft of the "Note Registrar," as such term is hereinafter defined, deposited by the Note Registrar in the United States mail, first class postage prepaid, in sealed envelopes, addressed to the owners of such Notes, as of the applicable Interest Payment Date, at their respective addresses as shown on the registration books of the Municipality maintained by the Note Registrar as of the close of business fifteen (15) calendar days preceding the next Interest Payment Date. The

principal of all Notes shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of such Notes at the principal office of the Note Registrar. All payments of the principal of and interest on the Notes shall be made in any coin or currency of the United States of America which, on the date of payment thereof, shall be legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

<u>Section 4</u>. <u>Redemption</u>. The Notes shall be subject to redemption, in whole or in part, at the option of the Municipality, at any time, at a price of par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, upon not less than fifteen (15) calendar days written notice to the registered owner.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>Execution</u>. The Notes shall be executed in the name of the Municipality; shall bear the manual signature of the Mayor; shall be countersigned by the City Recorder of the Municipality (the "City Recorder") with his or her manual signature; and, shall have printed or impressed thereon the official seal of the Municipality. In the event any officer whose signature appears on the Notes shall cease to be such officer, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes. The Notes shall be issued in typed, printed, or photocopied form, or any combination thereof, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit "A", with such minor changes therein or such variations thereof as the Mayor may deem necessary or desirable, the blanks to be appropriately completed by the Mayor prior to the issuance of the Notes.

Section 6. Registration, Negotiability, and Payment. (a) The City Recorder of the Municipality is hereby appointed the note registrar and paying agent (the "Note Registrar"), and as such shall establish and maintain suitable books (the "Registration Books") for recording the registration, conversion, and payment of the Notes, and shall also perform such other duties as may be required in connection with any of the foregoing. The Note Registrar is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver the Notes to the original purchaser thereof, or as he or she may designate, upon receipt by the Municipality of the proceeds of the sale thereof and to authenticate and deliver Notes in exchange for Notes of the same principal amount delivered for transfer upon receipt of the Notes to be transferred in proper form with proper documentation as herein described. The Notes shall not be valid for any purpose unless authenticated by the Note Registrar by the manual signature of the Note Registrar on the certificate set forth in Exhibit "A" hereto. The Notes shall be fully registered as to both principal and interest and shall be fully negotiable upon proper endorsement by the registered owner thereof. No transfer of any Notes shall be valid unless such transfer is noted upon the Registration Books and until such Note is surrendered, cancelled, and exchanged for a new Note which shall be issued to the transferee, subject to all the conditions contained herein.

(b) The Municipality may from time to time at its discretion remove the Note Registrar and appoint a successor Note Registrar to whom all records, documents, and instruments relating to its duties as Note Registrar shall be delivered. Any successor Note Registrar shall be appointed by resolution of the Municipality, and shall be a trust company or bank having the powers of a trust company, having, at the time of such appointment, a combined capital, surplus, and undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars (\$10,000,000), and be willing and able to accept the office of Note Registrar on reasonable and customary terms, and authorized by law to perform all duties imposed upon it by this Resolution. (c) In the event that any amount payable on any Note as interest shall at any time exceed the rate of interest lawfully chargeable thereon under applicable law, then any such excess shall, to the extent of such excess, be applied against the principal of such Note as a prepayment thereof without penalty, and such excess shall not be considered to be interest. All rates of interest specified herein shall be computed on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day year composed of twelve (12) months of thirty (30) days each.

<u>Section 7</u>. <u>Transfer of Notes</u>. Each Note shall be transferable only on the registration books maintained by the Note Registrar at the principal office of the Note Registrar, upon the surrender for cancellation thereof at the principal office of the Note Registrar, together with an assignment of such Note duly executed by the owner thereof or his, her or its attorney or legal representative, and upon payment of the charges hereinafter provided, and subject to such other limitations and conditions as may be provided therein or herein. Upon the cancellation of any such Note, the Note Registrar shall, in exchange for the surrendered Note or Notes, deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a new Note or Notes of authorized denominations, of the same aggregate principal amount, maturity, and rate of interest as such surrendered Note or Notes, and the transferee or transferees shall take such new Note or Notes subject to all of the conditions herein contained.

<u>Section 8</u>. <u>Regulations with Respect to Transfers</u>. In all cases in which the privilege of transferring Notes is exercised, the Municipality shall execute, and the Note Registrar shall deliver, Notes in accordance with the provisions of this Resolution. For every transfer of Notes, whether temporary or definitive, the Municipality and the Note Registrar may make a charge, unless otherwise herein to the contrary expressly provided, sufficient to pay for any tax, fee, or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such transfer, all of which taxes, fees, and other governmental charges shall be paid to the Municipality by the person or entity requesting such transfer as a condition precedent to the exercise of the privilege of making such transfer. Neither the Municipality nor the Note Registrar shall be obligated to transfer any Note during the fifteen (15) calendar days next preceding the maturity date of the Notes or any call for redemption.

<u>Section 9.</u> <u>Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Notes</u>. In the event any Note issued hereunder shall become mutilated, or be lost, stolen, or destroyed, such note shall, at the written request of the registered owner, be cancelled on the Registration Books and a new Note shall be authenticated and delivered, corresponding in all aspects but number to the mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed Note. Thereafter, should such mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed Note or Notes come into possession of the registered owner, such Notes shall be returned to the Note Registrar for destruction by the Note Registrar. If the principal on said mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed Note shall be due within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of the written request of the registered owner for authentication and delivery of a new Note, payment therefor shall be made as scheduled in lieu of issuing a new Note. In every case the registered owner shall certify in writing as to the destruction, theft, or loss of such Note, and shall provide indemnification satisfactory to the Municipality and to the Note Registrar, if required by the Municipality and the Note Registrar.

Any notice to the contrary notwithstanding, the Municipality and all of the officials, employees, and agents thereof, including the Note Registrar, may deem and treat the registered owners of the Notes as the absolute owners thereof for all purposes, including, but not limited to,

payment of the principal thereof, and the interest thereon, regardless of whether such payment shall then be overdue.

<u>Section 10</u>. <u>Authentication</u>. Only such of the Notes as shall have endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication, substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit "A" hereto duly executed by the Note Registrar shall be entitled to the rights, benefits, and security of this Resolution. No Note shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose unless, and until, such certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the Note Registrar. Such executed certificate of authentication by the Note Registrar upon any such Note shall be conclusive evidence that such Note has been duly authenticated and delivered under the Resolution as of the date of authentication.

<u>Section 11</u>. <u>Source of Payment and Security</u>. The Notes, as to both principal and interest, shall be payable from funds of the Municipality legally available therefor and to the extent necessary from <u>ad valorem</u> taxes to be levied on all taxable property within the corporate limits of the Municipality without limitation as to time, rate, or amount. Said Notes shall be a direct general obligation of the Municipality, for which the punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes, the full faith and credit of the Municipality is irrevocably pledged.

Levy of Taxes. For the purpose of providing for the payment of the principal Section 12. of and interest on the Notes, to the extent required, there shall be levied in each year in which such Notes shall be outstanding a direct tax on all taxable property in the Municipality, fully sufficient to pay all such principal and interest falling due prior to the time of collection of the next succeeding tax levy. Said tax shall be assessed, collected, and paid at the time, and in the same manner, as the other taxes of said Municipality, shall be in addition to all other taxes, and shall be without limitation as to time, rate, or amount, and for that purpose there is hereby levied a direct annual tax in such amount as may be found necessary each year to pay said principal of and interest on the Notes maturing in said year. Principal or interest falling due at any time when there shall be insufficient funds on hand from such tax levy for the payment thereof shall be paid from the general fund or other available funds of the Municipality, but reimbursement therefore may be made from the taxes herein provided when the same shall have been collected. Such taxes levied and collected therefore shall be deposited in the general debt service fund of the Municipality (the "Note Fund"), which is hereby authorized to be created, and used solely for the payment of principal of and interest on the Notes as the same shall become due.

<u>Section 13</u>. <u>Approval of Director of Local Finance</u>. Anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, no Notes authorized under this Resolution shall be issued, sold, or delivered, unless and until such Notes shall first have been duly approved by the Director of Local Finance of the State of Tennessee as provided by Section 9-21-601 et. seq., <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u>, as amended. The Mayor, City Recorder, City Attorney, and Bond Counsel are hereby authorized to take or cause to be taken such steps as are necessary to obtain such approval. After the issuance and sale of the Notes, and for each year that any of the Notes are outstanding, the Municipality shall submit its annual budget to the State Director of Local Finance for approval immediately upon the Municipality's adoption of the budget.

Section 14. Sale of Notes. The Notes herein authorized are authorized to be sold by the Mayor by the informal bid process at a price of not less than par and accrued interest.

Section 15. Disposition of Note Proceeds. The proceeds from the sale of the Notes shall be paid to the official of the Municipality designated by law as the custodian of the funds thereof to be deposited in a special fund known as the "General Obligation Capital Outlay Notes, Series 2008 Project Fund" (the "Project Fund"), which is hereby authorized to be created, to be kept separate and apart from all other funds of the Municipality. The monies in the Project Fund shall be disbursed solely to finance the Project and to pay the costs of issuance of the Notes. Monies in the Project Fund may be invested and shall be secured in the manner prescribed by applicable statutes relative to the investment and securing of public or trust funds. Any monies remaining in the Project Fund after completion of the Project shall be transferred to the Note Fund.

<u>Section 16</u>. <u>Non-Arbitrage Certification</u>. The Municipality certifies and covenants with the owners of the Notes that so long as the principal of any Note remains unpaid, monies on deposit in any fund or account in connection with the Notes, whether or not such monies were derived from the proceeds of the sale of the Notes or from any other source, will not be used in a manner which will cause the Notes to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and any lawful regulations promulgated thereunder, as the same presently exist, or may from time to time hereafter be amended, supplemented, or revised. The Municipality reserves the right, however, to make any investment of such monies permitted by Tennessee law and this Resolution if, when and to the extent that said Section 148 or regulations promulgated thereunder shall be repealed or relaxed or shall be held void by final decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, but only if any investment made by virtue of such repeal, relaxation, or decision would not, in the opinion of counsel of recognized competence in such matters, result in making the interest on the Notes subject to inclusion in gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.

The Municipality covenants that it shall comply with Section 148(f) of the Code, unless legally exempted therefrom and it represents that in the event it shall be required by Section 148(f) of the Code to pay "Rebatable Arbitrage," as defined in the regulations promulgated under the Code, to the United States Government, it will make such payments as and when required by said Section 148(f) and will take such other actions as shall be necessary or permitted to prevent the interest on the Notes from becoming subject to inclusion in federal gross income of the owners of the Notes for purposes of federal income taxation.

<u>Section 17.</u> <u>Designation of Notes as Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations</u>. The Municipality hereby designates the Notes as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" within the meaning and for the purpose of Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

<u>Section 18</u>. <u>Reimbursement Provisions</u>. The Municipality is in the process of causing certain capital expenditures to be made with respect to the Project, including, but not necessarily limited to, planning, design, and architectural expenses, and the Municipality desires to establish its official intent that certain of the expenditures related to the Project and certain other related expenditures be reimbursed from the proceeds of the Notes. Therefore, the Board of the Municipality finds and determines, as follows:

(a) that it is in the best interest of the Municipality to proceed immediately with the Project, thereby incurring certain capital expenditures;

(b) that the Municipality has certain funds available which may be used temporarily for this purpose, pending the issuance of the Notes;

(c) that pursuant to the provisions of this Resolution, the Board anticipates that the Municipality will issue the Notes for the purpose of financing the Project;

(d) that the Board reasonably expects to reimburse such amounts to such fund or source from which such expenditures may be made on a temporary basis as soon as proceeds from the issuance of such Notes are available; and,

(e) that this declaration of official intent is consistent with the budgetary and financial circumstances of the Municipality.

The Board of the Municipality by this Resolution hereby establishes its official intent to issue the Notes to finance the costs of the Project and other related expenditures in an amount not to exceed \$426,000. Pending the issuance of such Notes, funds necessary to finance such costs shall be advanced from such source of funds on hand and available for such purpose, and any amounts so advanced shall be reimbursed from the proceeds of the Notes.

<u>Section 19</u>. <u>Resolution a Contract</u>. The provisions of this Resolution shall constitute a contract between the Municipality and the owners of the Notes, and after the issuance of the Notes, no change, variation, or alteration of any kind in the provisions of this Resolution shall be made in any manner, until such time as all installments of the principal of and interest on the Notes shall have been paid in full or the consent of the registered owners of the Notes has been obtained; provided, however, that the Municipality is hereby authorized to make such amendments to this Resolution as will not impair the rights or security of the owners of the Notes

Section 20. No Action to be Taken Affecting Validity of the Notes. The Municipality hereby covenants and agrees that it will not take any action, that would in any manner affect the validity of the Notes or limit the rights and remedies of the owners from time to time of such Notes. The Municipality further covenants that it will not take any action that will cause the interest on the Notes to be subject to inclusion in gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation.

<u>Section 21</u>. <u>Miscellaneous Acts</u>. The Mayor, the City Recorder, and all other appropriate officials of the Municipality are hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to do any and all such acts and things, and to execute, acknowledge, and deliver all such documents, instruments, and certifications, specifically including but not limited to, making arbitrage certifications and executing a note purchase agreement in connection with the purchase of the Notes, in addition to those acts, things, documents, instruments, and certifications hereinbefore authorized and approved, as may in their discretion, be necessary or desirable to implement or comply with the intent of this Resolution; or any of the documents herein authorized and approved; or for the authorization, issuance, and delivery of the Notes.

<u>Section 22</u>. <u>Failure to Present Notes</u>. Subject to the provisions of Section 3 hereof, in the event any Note shall not be presented for payment when the principal becomes due at maturity and in the event monies sufficient to pay such Note shall be held by the Note Registrar for the benefit of the owner thereof, all liability of the Municipality to such owner for the payment of such Note shall forthwith cease, terminate, and be completely discharged. Thereupon, the Note Registrar shall hold such monies, without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the owner of such Note who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such monies for any claim under this Resolution or on, or with respect to, said Note, subject to escheat or other similar law, and any applicable statute of limitation.

<u>Section 23</u>. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays. Whenever the interest on or principal of any Note is due on a Saturday or Sunday or, at the place designated for payment, a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions are authorized by law to close, then the payment of the interest on, or the principal of, such Note need not be made on such date but must be made on the next succeeding day not a Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday or a day upon which banking institutions are authorized by law to close, with the same force and effect as if made on the date of maturity; and no interest shall accrue for the period after such date.

<u>Section 24</u>. <u>No Recourse Under Resolution or on Notes</u>. All stipulations, promises, agreements, and obligations of the Municipality contained in this Resolution shall be deemed to be the stipulations, promises, agreements, and obligations of the Municipality and not of any officer, director, or employee of the Municipality in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Notes or for any claim based thereon or under this Resolution against any officer, director, or employee of the Municipality or against any official or individual executing the Notes.</u>

<u>Section 25.</u> <u>Severability</u>. If any section, paragraph, or provision of this Resolution shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions hereof.

<u>Section 26</u>. <u>Repeal of Conflicting Resolutions and Effective Date</u>. All resolutions and orders, or parts thereof, in conflict with the provisions of this Resolution, are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed, and this Resolution shall be in effect as of the date of its adoption the welfare of the Municipality requiring it.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution shall become effective immediately upon passage, **THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT**.

Motion made by Alderman Randy Edwards that the foregoing resolution be approved. Seconded by Alderman Hankins. Upon being put to a roll call vote, the motion passed on the 8th day of September 2008.

ATTEST:

SIGNED:

Chris Mathis, CPA City Recorder Randy Brundige, Mayor

STATE OF TENNESSEE COUNTY OF WEAKLEY

I, Chris Mathis, hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Recorder of the City of Martin, Tennessee (the "Municipality"), and, as such official, I further certify as follows: (1) that attached hereto is a copy of a resolution excerpted from the minutes of the meeting of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen (the "Board") of said Municipality held on September 8, 2008; (2) that I have compared said copy with the original minute record of said meeting in my official custody; (3) that said copy is a true, correct, and complete transcript from said original record insofar as said original record relates to, among other matters, the authorization of the issuance of not to exceed \$426,000 General Obligation Capital Outlay Notes, Series 2008, by said Municipality; (4) that the actions by said Board including the aforementioned, at said meeting were promptly and duly recorded by me in a book kept for such purpose; and, (5) that a quorum of the members of said Board was present and acting throughout said meeting.

WITNESS my official signature and the seal of said Municipality this 8th day of September 2008.

(SEAL)

Chris Mathis, City Recorder

EXHIBIT A FORM OF NOTE

Registered No.____

Registered \$____

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA STATE OF TENNESSEE CITY OF MARTIN GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL OUTLAY NOTE, SERIES 2008

Interest Rate:

Maturity Date:

Dated Date:

Registered Owner:

Principal Amount:

THE CITY OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE (the "Municipality"), a lawfully organized and existing municipal corporation, for value received, hereby acknowledges itself indebted and promises to pay, as hereinafter set forth, in the manner hereinafter provided, to the Registered Owner identified above, or registered assigns as hereinafter provided, on the Maturity Date identified above, upon the presentation and surrender hereof at the office of the City Recorder, City Hall, Martin, Tennessee, or its successor as registrar and paying agent (the "Note Registrar"), the Principal Amount identified above, and to pay interest on said Principal Amount from the date hereof, or such later date as to which interest has been paid, to the Maturity Date, semi-annually on _________, 2009, at the Interest Rate per annum set forth above, by check, draft, or

warrant to the Registered Owner hereof at the address shown on the registration books of the Note Registrar on the fifteenth (15th) calendar day next preceding an interest payment date, in any coin or currency of the United States of America which on the date of payment thereof is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

In the event that any amount payable hereunder as interest shall at any time exceed the rate of interest lawfully chargeable on this note under applicable law, any such excess shall, to the extent of such excess, be applied against the principal hereof as a prepayment thereof without penalty, and such excess shall not be considered to be interest. All rates of interest specified herein shall be computed on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day year composed of twelve (12) months of thirty (30) days each.

The principal hereof and interest hereon shall bear interest from and after their respective due dates (whether by acceleration, demand, or otherwise) at the same rate of interest payable on the principal hereof.

Section 9-21-117, <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u>, as amended, provides that this note and the income therefrom is exempt from all state, county, and municipal taxation in the State of Tennessee, except inheritance, estate, and transfer taxes and except as otherwise provided in said Code.

This note is one of a series of notes known as "General Obligation Capital Outlay Notes, Series 2008" (the "Notes"), issued by the Municipality in the aggregate principal amount of \$426,000. The Notes which are issued for the purpose of financing certain public works projects, consisting of the acquisition of vehicles and equipment for the Police, Fire, and Parks Departments of the Municipality, renovation, improvements, and equipping of municipal buildings of the Municipality and funds to be used in the construction of the Brian Brown Greenway, the acquisition of all other property real and personal appurtenant thereto and connected with such work, and to pay all legal, fiscal, administrative, and engineering costs, incident thereto, are authorized by an appropriate resolution of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen and particularly that certain Resolution of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen adopted on September 8, 2008, entitled "Resolution of the City of Martin, Tennessee, Authorizing the Issuance of Interest Bearing General Obligation Capital Outlay Notes, Series 2008, in an Amount Not to Exceed \$426,000, and Providing for the Payment of Said Notes," as such resolution may be from time to time amended or supplemented in accordance with its terms (such resolution, as so amended or supplemented, being herein called, the "Resolution"), and are issued pursuant to, and in full compliance with, the Constitution and the statutes of the State of Tennessee, including, but not limited to, Title 9, Chapter 21, Tennessee Code Annotated, as amended (the "Act"). Copies of the Resolution are on file at the office of the City Recorder of the Municipality, and reference is hereby made to the Resolution and the Act, for a more complete statement of the terms and conditions upon which the Notes are issued thereunder, the rights, duties, immunities, and obligations of the Municipality, and the rights of the Registered Owner hereof.

This note and interest hereon is payable from funds of the Municipality legally available therefor and to the extent necessary from <u>ad valorem</u> taxes to be levied on all taxable property in the Municipality without limitation as to time, rate, or amount. For the prompt payment of this

note, both principal and interest, as the same shall become due, the full faith and credit of the Municipality are hereby irrevocably pledged.

The Municipality has designated the Notes as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" pursuant to Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

This note is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof in person or by his, her, or its attorney or legal representative at the office of the Note Registrar, but only in the manner and subject to the limitations and conditions provided in the Resolution and upon surrender and cancellation of this note. Upon any such transfer, the Municipality shall execute, and the Note Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange for this note, a new fully registered note or notes, registered in the name of the transferee, in authorized denominations, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of this note, of the same maturity and bearing interest at the same rate. For every transfer of notes, whether temporary or definitive, the Municipality and the Note Registrar may make a charge, unless otherwise herein to the contrary expressly provided, sufficient to pay for any tax, fee, or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such transfer, all of which taxes, fees, or other governmental charges shall be paid to the Municipality by the person or entity requesting such transfer as a condition precedent to the exercise of the privilege of making such transfer.

The Municipality and the Note Registrar may deem and treat the person or entity in whose name this note is registered as the absolute owner hereof, whether such note shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of making payment of the principal of and interest on this note and for all other purposes. All such payments so made shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon this note to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and neither the Municipality nor the Note Registrar shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

The Notes are issuable only as fully registered Notes, without coupons, in minimum denominations of \$5,000. At the office of the Note Registrar, in the manner and subject to the limitations, conditions, and charges provided in the Resolution, fully registered Notes may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of fully registered Notes of the same maturity, of authorized denominations, and bearing interest at the same rate.

The Notes shall be subject to redemption, in whole or in part, at the option of the Municipality, at any time, at the price of par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, upon not less than fifteen (15) calendar days written notice to the Registered Owner.

This note shall have all the qualities and incidents of, and shall be, a negotiable instrument under, the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of Tennessee, subject only to provisions respecting registration of such note. This note is issued with the intent that the laws of the State of Tennessee shall govern its construction.

It is hereby certified, recited, and declared that all acts and conditions required to be done and to exist precedent to the issuance of, this note in order to make this note a legal, valid, and binding obligation of the Municipality, have been done, and did exist in due time and form as required by the Constitution and statutes of the State of Tennessee; and that this note and the issue of which it is a part, together with all other indebtedness of such Municipality, does not exceed any limitation prescribed by the Constitution or statutes of the State of Tennessee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF MARTIN, TENNESSEE, has caused this note to be signed by the manual or facsimile signatures of the Mayor and the City Recorder and its official seal, or a facsimile thereof, to be impressed or imprinted hereon, all as of ______, 2008.

Alderman Edwards made the motion to approve Resolution R2008-18: Resolution of the City of Martin, Tennessee, authorizing the issuance of interest bearing General Obligation Capital Outlay Notes, Series 2008, in an amount not to exceed \$426,000.00 and providing for payment of said notes, seconded by Alderman Hankins.

VOTE	: FOR:	ALDERMEN NANNEY
		ALDERMAN HARRISON
		ALDERMAN BELOTE
		ALDERMAN TUCK
		ALDERMAN HANKINS
		ALDERMAN EDWARDS
	AGAINST:	NONE

Mayor Brundige declared Resolution R2008-18 approved.

911 MEMORIAL SERVICE

Mayor Brundige announced there will be a 911 Memorial Service on September 11, 2008 at the Republican Headquarters on S. Lindell Street. The speaker will be Billy Laird.

Mr. Stout explained September 19, 2008, is National Missing in Action Day. The City will be flying the Missing in Action Flag in Festival Park to honor the missing in action.

PARKS AND RECREATION DIRECTOR

Mayor Brundige explained we have closed the application receipt process for Parks and Recreation Director and we will be going through the applications to determine which ones meet our qualifications. We will get the list of candidates and a rate sheet to you as soon as possible.

Board set September 29, 2008 at 6:00 pm for interviews, which will be a thirty minutes rotations cycle. Board is to meet at 5:30 pm.

Minutes: City of Martin Board of Mayor and Aldermen, September 08, 2008

ADJOURN

Alderman Nanney made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Alderman Hankins.

VOTE: UNANIMOUS VOICE VOTE OF APPROVAL

ATTEST:

SIGNED:

Chris Mathis, CPA City Recorder Randy Brundige, Mayor

RB: CM/bh Saved "September 08, 2008"